Impact of Plant Tissue Culture on Agricultural Sustainability



Nahla A. El-Sherif

Abstract Plant tissue culture is an important agricultural biotechnological tool that contributes in the production of crops with improved food, fiber, fuel, and feed. It is one way toward commercialization to face the food availability challenge in developing countries and allow them to cope with their fast-growing population in a restricted area of land. In addition, plant tissue culture enables some rare and nearly extinct plant species to be rescued and propagated. Conventional methods of propagation thus need to be supplemented with modern breeding techniques. In this way, higher levels of agriculture, afforestation, plant improvement as well as in vitro production of metabolites and plant secondary products can be reached and fulfilled on a year-round basis and under disease-free conditions. The main applications of plant tissue culture in the agricultural field, plant micropropagation, inducing new varieties and constrains of plant tissue culture and challenges this technique is facing as an industry helping the agricultural field, are discussed in this chapter.

Keywords Agriculture, Biotechnology, In vitro propagation, Industry, New varieties, Plant tissue culture

Contents

1	Introduction	94
2	Definition and Intended Objectives of Plant Tissue Culture	95
3	Advantages of Plant Tissue Culture Technique	95
4	Micropropagation	96
5	Organogenesis	96
6	Somatic Embryogenesis	97

N.A. El-Sherif (🖂)

Cytology and Genetics Unit, Botany Department, Faculty of Science, Ain Shams University, Cairo, Egypt

Biology Department, Faculty of Science, Taibah University, Madinah, Saudi Arabia e-mail: elsherif.nahla@gmail.com; elsherif.nahla@sci.asu.edu.eg

A. M. Negm, M. Abu-hashim (eds.), *Sustainability of Agricultural Environment in Egypt: Part II - Soil-Water-Plant Nexus*, Hdb Env Chem (2019) 77: 93–108, DOI 10.1007/698_2017_160, © Springer International Publishing AG 2018, Published online: 17 April 2018

7	Protoplast Culture and Fusion	- 99
8	Success in Developing In Vitro Protocols for Crop Plants	100
9	Problems Associated with Plant Micropropagation	102
10	Production of New Plant Varieties with Tissue Culture	102
11	Advantages of Somaclonal Variation in Plants Produced by Tissue Culture	103
12	Hardening and Field Establishment of In Vitro Grown Plants	104
13	Constraints of Plant Tissue Culture	104
14	Conclusion	105
15	Recommendations	105
Refe	erences	105

1 Introduction

Plant tissue culture, as a modern biotechnology technique, is becoming nowadays very important for the development of mankind. It is considered one of the important breeding methodologies for many crops, vegetables and fruits, and it offers a substitute method for conventional vegetative propagation. It can also be considered as an efficient way of clonal propagation (also known as micropropagation); the prefix "micro" is used because this type of propagation is carried in a relatively small space in the lab. This technique produces an offspring totally like the mother plant.

Crops obtained through tissue culture are developed through time-saving and precise approaches compared to conventional plant breeding ones that take much longer. Plant tissue culture allows the rescue of embryos produced by incompatible crosses, prevents the phenomenon of "seed dormancy" observed in some plant species, and shortens the life cycle of some species known to have a relatively long life cycle.

Plant tissue culture is one way to face the food availability challenge in developing countries to cope with its fast-growing population in a restricted area of land. In addition, plant tissue culture enables some rare and nearly extinct plant species to be rescued and propagated. Conventional methods of propagation thus need to be supplemented with modern breeding techniques. In this way, higher levels of agriculture, afforestation, plant improvement, as well as in vitro production of metabolites and plant secondary products can be reached and fulfilled. Developing crops using the conventional ways face several problems such as low quality of the crop output and productivity fluctuations from year to year, which results in a deficit in the supply of the crop as well as its high price. The use of both tissue culture and genetic engineering techniques, combined, made possible the regeneration of plants with a novel character or two or more characters combined in a single plant species, thus saving time and effort of conventional plant breeding programs.

2 Definition and Intended Objectives of Plant Tissue Culture

Tissue culture means the cultivation or culture of specific plant tissues under aseptic conditions. Plants are grown in specific glassware or plastic containers with the addition of nutrients that suit each plant species. Plant tissue culture is based on a specific ability in plant cells, termed "totipotency" [1]. The concept of totipotency is based on the fact that all plant cells (except sperm and egg cells) contain the full complement of genes, which makes it possible to grow individual plant cells into full healthy plants that can be propagated inside the lab (in vitro). This process is also called "micropropagation."

Plant tissue culture is carried under specific conditions of complete sterilization of both the plant tissues as well as all the glassware and utensils used in the process. Plants are naturally contaminated mostly on their surfaces with microorganisms, so their surfaces are sterilized in chemical solutions (usually alcohol and sodium or calcium hypochlorite). This complete sterile medium helps to produce pest- and disease-free plant material [2]. During this process, plant hormones are added to the medium with specific ratios to each species and to each purpose, to control the plant tissue growth and proliferation. The medium can either be liquid, semisolid, or solid (by the addition of a gelling agent: agar).

3 Advantages of Plant Tissue Culture Technique

The following are the main advantages of the tissue culture technique:

- Small size of explant (the portion used in reproduction), used as starting material.
- Production of multiples of plants without the need for seeds or any pollinators.
- Production of mature plants with little space and time.
- Cultivation takes place under sterile conditions, under controlled environmental conditions (adequate temperature and light) which minimize the chance to transmit diseases, pests or pathogens.
- Production of plants from seeds that have a low germination rate.
- Regeneration of whole plants from genetically modified cells.
- Easy to maintain, move these plants and store them until needed, irrespective of the season and weather.
- This technique in plant breeding is characterized by increasing the plant yield and quality with lower production costs compared to traditional breeding methods.

In this chapter, we will discuss four applications of plant tissue culture technique that are being used in the agricultural field; these are (1) micropropagation, (2) organogenesis, (3) somatic embryogenesis, and (4) protoplast culture.

4 Micropropagation

Basically, micropropagation is like rooting of plant cuttings and might also be considered as another method of vegetative propagation of plants. However, it differs from the conventional method in that it is carried out in complete aseptic conditions and requires unique conditions, i.e., an artificial nutrient medium supplemented with specific growth factors.

It is used to sustain agriculture and is an example of direct laboratory to soil transfer of biotechnological benefits. A small plant cutting or explant (usually an axillary bud) is surface sterilized and inoculated into a culture vessel containing a solid or semisolid nutrient medium and supplemented with the proper ratio of auxin/cytokinin. The inoculated culture vessel is incubated at room temperature, (Fig. 1) [3].

In a day or 2, many shoots develop from the axillary bud in a process known as axillary bud proliferation. After that, each growing point is subcultured (i.e., cultured in a new fresh medium) to give rise to a new shoot. This phenomenon is known as adventitious shoot formation (adventitious refers to an organ grown in a place different from its normal position). Auxin stimulates each shoot to develop roots. After the root emerges, the new plantlet is transferred to the field.

5 Organogenesis

Organogenesis refers to the differentiation of organs, such as shoot and root, from an undifferentiated mass of cells. The process depends on the fact that the cells of an explant (the part of the plant to be used in culture) are highly differentiated because



Fig. 1 Plant tissue cultures being grown at a USDA seed bank, the National Center for Genetic Resources Preservation. By USDA, Lance Cheung – Flickr, Public Domain, (https://commons. wikimedia.org/w/index.php?curid=44757726)

they are taken from a differentiated plant part such as a root, a stem, or a leaf. When an explant is placed in an artificially enriched nutrient medium, its differentiated cells start to dedifferentiate (which means to return to an undifferentiated state) to form a mass of unorganized cells known as "callus."

The cells of the callus then redifferentiate and produce the desired tissue in response to specific growth regulators added into the medium (plant hormones). This tissue develops then into an organ.

Single cells can also be cultured and induced to develop shoot and root one followed by the other by the addition of proper plant hormones combinations. Plant growth regulators (hormones) relative amounts to each other play an important role in the differentiation process.

There are two important groups of plant hormones that play the most important roles in plant tissue culture: auxins and cytokinins. Auxins, such as indole acetic acid (IAA) and naphthalene acetic acid (NAA), promote root differentiation and cytokinins such as kinetin and adenine promote shoot differentiation. A balance of both auxin and cytokinin usually produces a callus [4].

It has been established that root and shoot differentiation depends on the ratio or quantitative interaction between cytokinins and auxins [5]. This principle is applied to plant cells or tissues cultured in vitro. Kinetin and IA are added to the in vitro culture in required specific amounts and ratios, one following the others to promote shoot and root differentiation.

6 Somatic Embryogenesis

In flowering plants, the fusion of two gametes leads to the production of an embryo. The resulting plant embryo follows a preprogrammed development through a series of differentiation events to develop into a mature embryo that results in the formation of a plantlet [6]. Under normal conditions, embryos result from sexual reproduction through the formation of a zygote and are thus known as "zygotic embryos."

A different type of embryos can be developed by plant tissue culture techniques; the embryo is like a zygotic embryo in shape, but it is formed from a somatic cell, not from reproductive ones thus bypassing sexual reproduction. Such embryos are known as "somatic embryos." They are bipolar [7]. The formation of somatic embryos is known as somatic embryogenesis.

Somatic embryo formation starts with a mass of single cells or a tissue grown on a semisolid nutrient medium. A cell keeps dividing and forms a cell aggregate. The cell aggregate passes through different stages including globular, heart-shaped, and torpedo stages.

The torpedo stage is the mature stage. The culture is initially started on a semisolid medium, and the obtained callus is transferred to a liquid well-agitated and aerated medium. The callus is broken down into cells that will each develop into a somatic embryo. Mature stages of somatic embryos are sorted out, transferred to a semisolid medium, and grown to maturity to obtain a regenerated plant (Fig. 2).



Fig. 2 Regeneration through somatic embryogenesis in slash pine. Different stages of embryo development are noticed, (a) embryogenic callus, obtained from zygotic embryo (bar = 0.1 cm), (b) globular somatic embryo (bar = 0.5 cm), (c) cotyledonary somatic embryo (bar = 0.5 cm), (d) regenerated plant, established in soil (bar = 0.8 cm) (adapted from [8])

There are four ways by which somatic embryos could be transferred to the field. These methods are briefly explained below:

- 1. Germination of somatic embryos takes place in the laboratory; they are then transplanted into pots and then transferred to the field.
- Encapsulation of dormant embryos takes place in a gel, containing a proper nutrient for the embryo. These encapsulated embryos are known as "artificial/ synthetic seeds." These seeds have the advantage to be easily planted in the field.
- 3. Germination of embryos under controlled conditions: Emerged seedlings are mixed with a gel like medium. The seedling-gel mix is then sown in the field.
- 4. The embryos are germinated and then used in a viscous carrier gel, supplemented with growth regulators, sucrose and nutrients, a process known as "fluid drilling." The major advantages of this process are (1) the rescue of zygotic embryos initiated by distant incompatible crosses and (2) the ability to overcome seed sterility and dormancy.

7 Protoplast Culture and Fusion

Protoplasts can be defined as the spherical plasmolyzed content of plant cells whose cell wall has been removed. The cell remains bound by a plasma membrane [9]. Figure 3 illustrates the culture of protoplast isolated from embryogenic callus of date palm [10]. Protoplast fusion enables combining useful characters from two plant species in one species. The concept is that isolated protoplasts from two different species of plants are induced to fuse to produce a single protoplast containing both the genetic material and the cytoplasm of both fused protoplasts.

Fusing two protoplasts is not direct or straightforward; it should be induced by some agents, called "fusogens." There are two types of fusogens: chemical and electrical. Polyethylene glycol (PEG) is a chemical fusogen. However, it cannot be considered a universal fusogen, since it is toxic to some types of plant protoplasts. Another way is the use of a direct electric current applied to the fusing protoplasts. This method is known as electro-fusion. The product of the fusion of two protoplasts is called "a synkaryon."



Fig. 3 Date palm protoplast culture as a method of palm micropropagation: (**g**-**h**) isolated protoplasts (bar = $30.5 \ \mu m$), (**i**-**j**) first cell divisions of protoplasts after 3 days of culture (bar = $9.5 \ \mu m$; *arrows* indicate separation of the cells after division and thickening of the protoplast periphery due to regeneration of a new cell wall) (adapted from [10])

Protoplast fusion takes place in three steps. First, two protoplasts are laid close to each other. Second, the plasma membranes of both cells fuse, and then the two nuclei lie in the mixed cytoplasm. This stage is known as "a heterokaryon." In the third and last stage, the two nuclei fuse leading to the formation of a synkaryon.

After synkaryon formation, a cell wall is regenerated around the fused protoplasts, and the cell is cultured in a defined artificially enriched nutrient medium. This sequence of events is very like what happens in the case of callus culture. This process is also known as somatic hybridization, and the products are known as "somatic hybrids."

This method overcomes the difficulty of the fusion of gametes of two unrelated plant species. Carlson et al. [12] obtained the first somatic hybrid by fusing the isolated protoplasts of *Nicotiana glauca* with *N. langsdorffii*. However, in some cases, two nuclei cannot coexist due to cellular incompatibility. As a result, one nucleus is eliminated, and the result is a protoplast containing the cytoplasm of both species but the nucleus of only one species. In this case, the resulting hybrid is known as a cytoplasmic hybrid or cybrid.

Somatic hybridization is carried in sexually incompatible plant species. A wellknown example of a somatic hybrid is "pomato." Pomato was obtained by fusing the protoplasts of potato and tomato. However, this hybrid is of little commercial value [12].

8 Success in Developing In Vitro Protocols for Crop Plants

Biotechnological application of crop improvement programs requires a reproducible and efficient system for in vitro regeneration. An in vitro plant regeneration technique refers to culturing, cell division, cell multiplication, and dedifferentiation and differentiation of cells, protoplasts, tissues, and organs on specific defined solid or liquid medium under sterile conditions and physically controlled environment [13]. A reliable successful in vitro regeneration technique is of great importance to obtain complete whole plants starting from simple cells either through clonal propagation methods or genetic engineering of plants (Genetic Engineering of Plants: Agricultural Research Opportunities and Policy Concerns (1984).

In its beginning, tissue culture was most commonly used for high-value horticultural crops. However, today, tissue culture propagation has also been very successful in producing improved self-sufficient crops widely used in developing countries [14]. One notable advance and improvement made possible by tissue culture was the development of disease-free bananas in East Africa. Bananas are considered a major source of nutrition and income in many countries of Africa. Rice is another crop whose demand increases rapidly in West Africa and cannot be fulfilled by local production only. The region imports around 6 million tons of rice annually (half of the region's requirements) at a cost of about US\$1 billion. To address this decrease in product, Monty Jones, a Sierra Leone scientist working at the Africa Rice Center (previously WARDA), started a breeding program based on tissue culture techniques to develop crosses between an African species of rice (*Oryza glaberrima*) and an Asian species (*Oryza sativa*). The former is better adapted to local environments with a drawback of producing lower yields (around 1 ton per hectare), whereas the latter has the advantage to yield around 5 tons per hectare.

Numerous embryos were obtained by crossing the two species, but these were grown to maturity only with the use of tissue culture. The obtained "new rice for Africa" were called "NERICAs." They have the advantage of being tolerant to many different severe conditions and yield a much higher product [15].

Cassava is a major staple crop for millions of people in tropical countries in East and Central Africa, supplying a great portion of the energy need mostly in the agricultural areas, and it is the second most important staple crop in Africa after maize [16]. Cassava is highly susceptible to many diseases and pests especially African cassava mosaic disease which can result in a huge yield loss reaching 100% [17]. Frog-skin disease, which affects cassava, has been eliminated from five different cassava cultivars using a combination of heat treatment and tissue culture. Tissue culture may enable the development of disease-free cassava varieties in Africa as innovations seek to lower the cost of application of the technology [18].

Date palms, potatoes, citrus, and stone fruits are also grown in many areas of the world including Egypt using tissue culture techniques. A study concluded by Khaled et al. [19] showed that banana grown by tissue culture outperformed banana grown under traditional farming at the level of all the studied economic variables, where average profit from tissue-cultured banana reached around 591% of the profit realized from traditionally produced banana. In addition, it was found that tissue-cultured banana is better in terms of shape, taste, and nutritional value, in addition to obtaining a virus-free crop. Therefore, the study recommended supporting and improving banana production by tissue culture, as a replacement for traditional production to raise the crop productivity and exports of Egyptian banana [19].

Date palm is also a major agricultural crop that has great nutritional value and health benefits. It is propagated either sexually by seeds or vegetatively by off-shoots. Seed propagation has some limitations such as high percentage of male plants and slow growth [20].

The use of tissue culture in case of date palm has proven to be a very convenient method for large-scale multiplication. It enables the production of a high-quality and uniform planting material under sterile disease-free conditions on a year-round basis, irrespective of the weather or season. Two main tissue culture methods are used for date palm micropropagation, somatic embryogenesis, and organogenesis. Inflorescences were also used as good promising explants of elite cultivars of date palm [20].

9 Problems Associated with Plant Micropropagation

Plant tissue culture is known to generate a range of variability between cells of the same tissue. This variability is known as "somaclonal variation." This variation between cells might be due to spontaneous gene mutation or changes in epigenetic marks. This variation might be a disadvantage for in vitro cloning when one's objective is to obtain a true-to-type plant progeny.

On the other hand, somaclonal variation is very beneficial when the breeder's goal is to obtain genetic variation, particularly in the case of plants that are propagated asexually, those that are hard to breed or those with a narrow genetic base, having only few cultivars available [21]. Genetic variations occur in various types of cells such as calli, undifferentiated cells, and isolated protoplasts [22].

10 Production of New Plant Varieties with Tissue Culture

In tissue cultures, variations are detected between cells of the same tissue. These variations are attributed to the phenomenon of somaclonal variation [23]. There are many factors that might cause these variations such as wounding, oxidative stress, imbalance of media components, sterilization processes, and improper physical conditions of the culture such as light and humidity. Plants are exposed to oxidative stress that results in accumulation of reactive oxygen species (ROS), such as hydrogen peroxide, superoxide, peroxyl, hydroxyl, and alkoxyl which may result in genetic mutations such as changes in chromosome number, rearrangements, or epigenetic modifications, not due to any change in DNA sequence. Epigenetic modifications include DNA hyper or hypomethylation. This is the reason explaining why sometimes somatic embryogenesis is a preferred method to obtain uniform plants because DNA in the initial stages of embryogenesis normally contain lower levels of methylation [24]. Also, the number of subcultures and the duration of each one influence the rate of somaclonal variations [25].

Also, in oil palm, in vitro proliferation was found to induce DNA hypermethylation, and changes in DNA methylation may change the expression of embryogenic capacity during tissue culture [26]. Several plant growth regulators (PGRs) used during tissue culture such as 2,4-dichlorophenoxy acetic acid (2,4-D), naphthalene acetic acid (NAA) and BAP (6-benzylaminopurine), and synthetic phenylurea derivatives (4-CPPU, PBU, and 2,3-MDPU) have also been found to be involved in somaclonal variations. Kinetin was found to cause severe hypomethylation of DNA in proliferating cultures of carrot root explants within 2 weeks [27], and auxins, including NAA, on the other hand, were found to cause hypermethylation [28].

Some in vitro multiplication techniques were found to be associated with "somaclonal variation" [29]. Regenerated plants with some aberrations can develop from geneticand/or epigenetic-mediated gene expression alterations and can sometimes result in significant economic losses. For example, around 5% of commercial oil palm (*Elaeis oleifera*) plants regenerated via somatic embryogenesis bore somaclonal abnormalities that included the mantled inflorescence syndrome [30]. This disease was later found to be associated with changes in DNA methylation status [31] and was also associated with the use of specific plant growth regulators, hormones, and nutrients that were added to the culture media [32, 33].

The nature of the in vitro propagation system used to produce regenerated plants can influence the chance of producing significant quantities of somaclonal variant plants. A higher chance to produce genetic and/or epigenetic changes in regenerated plants is usually linked to in vitro propagation systems that depend on a two-stage process to generate new plants by passing through an intermediate callus stage (such as in somatic embryogenesis) [34].

First, cells from the explant material must dedifferentiate to form unspecialized callus cells. Second, some of these callus cells must redifferentiate to allow for the development of the specialized cells needed to form tissues and organs. Rodríguez López et al. [35] showed that the *C*-methylation profiles of leaves from plants developed by somatic embryogenesis in cocoa (*Theobroma cacao*) had many of the features of the explant tissue as well as some of those in the leaves of the mother plant. This finding suggests that the epigenetic DNA methylation landscape (and therefore the global gene regulation patterns) is not entirely dedifferentiated in the callus cells before new adventitious plant tissues develop.

11 Advantages of Somaclonal Variation in Plants Produced by Tissue Culture

Somaclonal variation is the variation resulting from chromosomal rearrangements in plants grown by tissue culture and specially those regenerated through a callus phase. The resulting variation can be genotypic or phenotypic. Phenotypic variation might be genetic (pre-existing in the somatic cells of the explant) or epigenetic in origin (caused by temporary phenotypic changes and not cause by any change in DNA sequence). Somaclonal variation may have physiological, genetic, or biochemical cause/s. Physiological causes include exposure of the culture to plant growth regulators with different ratios. Genetic causes include changes in chromosome number and/or structure as well as gene mutation and transposable element activation. Biochemical causes include lack of photosynthetic ability due to alteration in carbon metabolism, starch biosynthesis via carotenoid pathway, nitrogen metabolism, and antibiotic resistance [21]. Somaclonal variation in plants may have its advantages in crop improvement, creation of additional beneficial genetic variations, increased and improved production of secondary metabolites, and selection of plants resistant to various toxins, herbicides, high salt concentration, and mineral toxicity.

12 Hardening and Field Establishment of In Vitro Grown Plants

Hardening is the acclimatization of tissue culture grown plants and their gradual exposure to soil which is the ultimate success of in vitro propagation [36]. Hardening or ex vitro acclimatization of plants grown by tissue culture is considered the bottleneck for commercializing these plants. Researchers use different approaches to establish these plants in soil with the maximum possible efficiency. Rooting is very important for hardening. In addition, when in vitro grown plants are transferred to soil and exposed to ex vitro conditions, they suffer from losses due to environmental changes which sometimes might lead to plant mortality. The level of plant acclimatization and photosynthetic apparatus was found to be affected by the type of media, hormone amount and concentration, concentration of sucrose and the gelling agent, temperature, and pH [37, 38]. Different types and combination of substratum have been used as potential possible ways for a better hardening process. For example, a combination of charcoal pieces and mosses was found optimum for epiphytic orchids, and a mixture of moss and decayed food was preferred for terrestrial ones. In addition, manipulation in salt solution added to a matrix or substrate was used for hardening of in vitro raised Carica papaya [39], and soaked cotton was used for successful hardening of Saccharum officinarum [40]. Bacterial inoculations are sometimes effective in improving the survival rate of tissue culture grown plants. The term "biotization" refers to a technique analogous to vaccination where physiological changes take place in the plants by plant growth-promoting bacteria when they are transferred into soil. This process enhances the tolerance of these plants to both abiotic and biotic stress which helps the plants to better survive during hardening. Cost-effective approaches for hardening of plants constitute a challenge that the scientists need to approach and try continuously to find new alternatives for plants grown in vitro to adjust to the new growth conditions ex vitro [41].

13 Constraints of Plant Tissue Culture

Plant tissue culture in vitro is a powerful technology that has a promising role in sustaining agriculture and a great potential to produce elite plants with superior quality, with the use of little chemicals. However, this industry is technology driven and requires labor, energy, trained personnel, and specific equipment which are not always available. Acclimatization of in vitro grown plants is often an expensive part of the technology and requires greenhouses to obtain suitable end products. In summary, this technique must be handled very carefully. Otherwise, non-desired unproductive products will be obtained.

14 Conclusion

Plant tissue culture has many applications in the field of agriculture and has proven to be a successful industry allowing the increased production of important crop plants and has thus contributed to the Second Green Revolution. Increased rate of crop production as well as improved crop varieties will be facilitated with plant tissue culture techniques, providing all necessary treatments, equipment, and personnel that are available. Improving and investing in plant tissue culture will thus likely have a great effect in agriculture sustainability and in creating several employment opportunities in the field of agriculture industry.

15 Recommendations

Future research in the field of plant tissue culture should focus on the production and propagation of genetically homogenous disease-free plants and specially the important economic crops to meet the continuously increasing world demand. Somaclonal variation is considered an important source of genetic variability that should be exploited to obtain new stable genotypes that can be grown in different types of soil. In vitro culture of zygotic embryos should be used to recover plants obtained from intergeneric crosses that do not yield fertile seeds. Plant tissue culture is an indispensable tool for genetic engineering in plants to grow plants that are tolerant to both biotic and abiotic stress factors. Decision and policy makers are highly encouraged to invest in new plant tissue culture techniques that suit the agriculture of different crop varieties and in different parts of the land.

References

- 1. Vasil IK, Vasil V (1972) Totipotency and embryogenesis in plant cell and tissue cultures. In Vitro 8:117–125
- Sathyanarayana BN (2007) Plant tissue culture: practices and new experimental protocols. I.K. International, p 106. ISBN 978-81-89866-11-2
- 3. Bhojwani SS, Razdan MK (1996) Plant tissue culture: theory and practice, revised edn. Elsevier, New York, ISBN 0-444-81623-2
- 4. Skoog F, Miller CO (1957) Chemical regulation of growth and organ formation in plant tissue cultures in vitro. Symp Soc Exp Biol 11:118–131
- Su Y-H, Liu Y-B, Zhang X-S (2011) Auxin–cytokinin interaction regulates meristem development. Mol Plant 4:616–625. https://doi.org/10.1093/mp/ssr007
- 6. Goldberg RB, de Paiva G, Yadegari R (1994) Plant embryogenesis: zygote to seed. Science 266:605–614
- Quiroz-Figueroa FR, Rojas-Herrera R, Galaz-Avalos RM, Loyola-Vargas VM (2006) Embryo production through somatic embryogenesis can be used to study cell differentiation in plants. Plant Cell Tiss Org Cult 86:285–301

- Ronald J, Newton WT, Mohan Jain S (2005) Slash pine (*Pinus elliottii* Engelm) protocol for somatic embryogenesis in woody plants. In: Jain SM, Gupta K (eds) Series: forestry sciences, vol 77. Springer, New York, pp 243–248. ISBN: 978-1-4020-2984-4 (Print) 978-1-4020-2985-1 (Online)
- Tomar UK, Dantu PK (2010) Protoplast culture and somatic hybridization. In: Tripathi G (ed) Cellular and biochemical science, 1st edn. I.K. International House Pvt Ltd., New Delhi, pp 876–891
- Titouh K, Nazim B, Lakhdar K (2017) Microcalli induction in protoplasts isolated from embryogenic callus of date palm. In: JM AK, Jain SM, Johnson DV (eds) Date palm biotechnology protocols volume I. Part of the methods in molecular biology book series (MIMB, volume 1637). Springer, New York, pp 227–237. ISBN: 978-1-4939-7155-8 (Print) 978-1-4939-7156-5 (Online)
- Carlson P, Smith HH, Dearing RD (1972) Parasexual interspecific plant hybridization. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 69:2292–2294
- 12. Renneberg R (2008) Biotechnology for beginners, Elsevier, San Diego, CA, p 210. 9780123735812
- Kumar P, Srivastava DK (2016) Biotechnological advancement in genetic improvement of broccoli (*Brassica oleracea* L. var. *italica*), an important vegetable crop. Biotechnol Lett 38:1049. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10529-016-2080-9
- 14. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO) (2011) "Biotechnologies for agricultural development" proceedings of the FAO international technical conference on "Agricultural biotechnologies in developing countries: options and opportunities in crops, forestry, livestock, fisheries and agro-industry to face the challenges of food insecurity and climate change (ABCD-10)," FAO, Rome
- Teeken B, Edwin N, Marina PT, Florent O, Alfred M, Paul CS, Paul R (2012) Maintaining or abandoning African Rice: lessons for understanding processes of seed innovation. Hum Ecol 40(6):879–892
- Ogero KO, Mburugu GN, Mwangi M, Ombori O, Ngugi M (2012) In vitro micropropagation of cassava through low cost tissue culture. Asian J Agr Sci 4(3):205–209
- 17. Ahuja MR, Ramawat KG (eds) (2014) "Biotechnology and biodiversity" sustainable development and biodiversity, vol 4, Springer International Publishing, Switzerland
- Chavarriaga-Aguirre P, Brand A, Medina A, Prías M, Escobar R, Martinez J et al (2016) The potential of using biotechnology to improve cassava: a review. In Vitro Cell Dev Biol 52(5):461–478
- 19. Khaled SM, Fatma AS, Mona BH (2010) Banana-growing tissue and its impact on the economic return per Fedden in Egypt. Nat Sci 8(10):267–273
- 20. Bekheet S (2013) Date palm biotechnology in Egypt. Appl Sci Rep 3(3):144–152
- 21. Krishna H, Alizadeh M, Singh D, Singh U, Chauhan N, Eftekhari M, Sadh RK (2016) Somaclonal variations and their applications in horticultural crops improvement. Biotech 6 (1):54
- 22. Butiuc Keul A, Farkas A, Cristae V (2016) Genetic stability assessment of in vitro plants by molecular markers, Studia Universitatis Babeş-Bolyai Biologia, LXI 1:107–114
- 23. Larkin PJ, Scowcroft WR (1981) Somaclonal variation a novel source of variability from cell-cultures for plant improvement. Theor Appl Genet 60:197–214
- Sahijram L, Jaya RS, Bollamma KT (2003) Analyzing somaclonal variation in micropropagated bananas (Musa spp.) In Vitro Cell Dev Biol Plant 39:551–556
- 25. Etienne H, Bertrand B (2003) Somaclonal variation in *Coffea arabica*: effects of genotype and embryogenic cell suspension age on frequency and phenotype of variants. Tree Physiol 23:419–426
- 26. Rival A, Ilbert P, Labeyrie A, Torres E, Doulbeau S, Personne A, Dussert S, Beule T, Durand-Gasselin T, Tregear JW, Jaligot E (2013) Variations in genomic DNA methylation during the long term in vitro proliferation of oil palm embryogenic suspension cultures. Plant Cell Rep 32:359–368
- Arnhold-Schmitt B (1993) Rapid changes in amplification and methylation pattern of genomic DNA in cultured carrot root explants (*Daucus carota* L.) Theor Appl Genet 85:793–800

- 28. LoSchiavo F, Pitto L, Giuliano G, Torti G, Nuti-Ronchi V, Marazziti D, Vergara R, Orselli S, Terzi M (1989) DNA methylation of embryogenic carrot cell cultures and its variations as caused by mutation, differentiation, hormones and hypomethylating drugs. Theor Appl Genet 77:325–331
- Peraza-Echeverria S, Herrera-Valencia VA, Kay A-J (2001) Detection of DNA methylation changes in micropropagated banana plants using methylation-sensitive amplification polymorphism (MSAP). Plant Sci 161:359–367
- 30. Jaligot E, Rival A, Beule T, Dussert S, Verdeil JL (2000) Somaclonal variation in oil palm (*Elaeis guineensis* Jacq.): the DNA methylation hypothesis. Plant Cell Rep 19:684–690
- Matthes M, Singh R, Cheah S-C, Karp A (2001) Variation in oil palm (*Elaeis guineensis* Jacq.) tissue culture-derived regenerants revealed by AFLPs with methylation-sensitive enzymes. Theor Appl Genet 102:971–979
- 32. Morcillo F, Gagneur C, Richaud AH, Singh F, Cheah SC, Rival A (2006) Somaclonal variation in micropropagated oil palm. Characterization of two novel genes with enhanced expression in epigenetically abnormal cell lines and in response to auxin. Tree Physiol 26:585–594
- Varga A, Thoma LH, Bruinsma J (1988) Effects of auxins and cytokinins on epigenetic instability of callus-propagated *Kalanchoe blossfeldiana* Pollen. Plant Cell Tiss Org Cult 15:223–231
- 34. Miguel C, Marum L (2011) An epigenetic view of plant cells cultured in vitro: somaclonal variation and beyond. J Exp Bot 62:3713–3725
- Rodríguez López CM, Wetten AC, Wilkinson MJ (2010) Progressive erosion of genetic and epigenetic variation in callus-derived cocoa (*Theobroma cacao*) plants. New Phytol 186:856–868
- 36. Saxena S, Dhawan B (1999) Regeneration and large scale propagation of bamboo (*Dendrocalamus strictus* Nees) through somatic embryogenesis. Plant Cell Rep 18:438–443
- 37. Hazarika BN (2003) Acclimatization of tissue cultured plants. Curr Sci 85:1704-1712
- 38. Synkova H (1997) Sucrose affects the photosynthetic apparatus and the acclimation of transgenic tobacco to ex vitro culture. Photosynthetica 33:403–412
- Agnihotri S, Singh SK, Jain M, Sharma M, Sharma AK, Chaturvedi HC (2004) *In vitro* cloning of female and male *Carica papaya* through tips of shoots and inflorescences. Indian J Biotechnol 3:235–240
- Gill NK, Gill R, Goshal SS (2004) Factors enhancing somatic embryogenesis and plant regeneration in sugarcane (*Saccharum officinarum* L.) Indian J Biotechnol 3:119–123
- 41. Deb CR, Imchen T (2010) An effective *in vitro* hardening technique of tissue culture raised plants. Biotechnology 9(1):79–83